THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen , Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001616

RECEIVED

AUG 29 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Alan F. McNeal And
Adrienne McNeal,

Appellants,

v.

Ocwen Loan Servicing,
LLC, and Nationstar
Mortgage, LLC,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Terence A. Willis
Willis Law of South Carolina
18 Ribaut Dr.
Hilton Head Island, SC 29926
(843) 342-2342

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing the cause of action with prejudice named Fraud for failure of the Appellants' First Amended Complaint to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC.
2. Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing the cause of action with prejudice named Violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act for failure of the Appellants' First Amended Complaint to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC.
3. Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing the cause of action with prejudice named Breach of Contract with Fraudulent Intent for failure of the Appellants' First Amended Complaint to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC.
4. Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing with prejudice the cause of action named Unfair Trade Practices Act for failure of the Appellants' First Amended Complaint to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC.
5. Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing with prejudice the causes of action against Ocwen for failure of the Appellants' First Amended Complaint to comply with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 8, SCRPC.
6. Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing the causes with prejudice of action against Ocwen for failure of the Appellants' First Amended Complaint to comply with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 9, SCRPC.
7. Whether the Trial Court committed an abuse of discretion in making findings of fact that (1) the breach of contract claim is limited to the prepayment provision of the note and (2) that mortgagee must be provided written notice of prepayment since neither were based upon information admitted into evidence or so stated in the McNeals' pleadings.

8. Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing the causes of action with prejudice against Ocwen thus not allowing the Appellants the opportunity to amend their Complaint.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants, Alan F. McNeal and Adrienne McNeal ("McNeals"), filed their original Complaint on May 29, 2015. Then, Nationstar Mortgage, LLC ("Nationstar") filed a Notice of Removal and Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC ("Ocwen") consented to the removal. (Nationstar and Ocwen are collectively referred to as "Defendants") The case was then remanded to the Court Of Common Pleas, 14th Judicial Circuit by order of the Honorable Sol Blatt, Jr., Senior United States District Judge, dated October 26, 2015.

Nationstar and Ocwen filed motions to dismiss in this case with the Court Of Common Pleas, 14th Judicial Circuit on November 3, 2016 and November 2, 2016, respectively.¹

McNeals filed their First Amended Complaint on November 13, 2015, within the time allowed for filing an amended Complaint without the Court's permission.

Nationstar subsequently filed Defendant Nationstar Mortgage LLC's Memorandum of Law in Support of Its Motion to Dismiss on January 13, 2016.

McNeals filed Plaintiffs' Reply and Revised Brief in Opposition to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss on January 29, 2016.

¹ Ocwen's first motion to dismiss was the same motion to dismiss it had filed in Federal Court which was based upon Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, but subsequently Ocwen filed an Amended Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss by Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC based upon the law of South Carolina on February 2, 2016.

Ocwen filed an Amended Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss based upon the law of South Carolina on February 2, 2016.

Having been previously served Ocwen's Amended Memorandum, the McNeals filed their Plaintiffs' Reply Brief to Ocwen's Amended Memorandum in Support of Its Motion to Dismiss on February 2, 2016.

A hearing on the motions to dismiss was held before the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III on February 2, 2016 ("Hearing"), followed by a subsequent telephone hearing on February 15, 2016.

McNeals filed their Brief on Waiver of the Requirement of Tender on February 12, 2016. Ocwen in turn filed Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC's Brief in Response to Plaintiff's Brief on Waiver of the Requirement of Tender on February 17, 2016.

A second telephone hearing was held on March 4, 2016.

The original order on the Motions to Dismiss was signed by the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III on April 19, 2016, and filed with the Clerk of Courts of Beaufort County, SC on the same date.

The McNeals filed their Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration Pursuant to SCRPC 52 and 59 of an Order Granting Motion to Dismiss By Defendant, Nationstar Mortgage, LLC as to All Causes Of Action and Partially Granting and Partially Denying Motion to Dismiss by Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC and Request For Findings of Fact pursuant to SCRPC 52 and 59 on April 29, 2016, and supplemented by the filing of a Supplemental Memorandum of Law in

Support of Motion for Reconsideration and for Findings of Fact filed on June 20, 2016, but sent to Judge Dukes via email on June 16, 2016.

A third telephone hearing was held on June 17, 2016.

On July 6, 2016, the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III signed an Amended Order Granting Motion To Dismiss By Defendant Nationstar Mortgage, LLC As To All Causes Of Action And Partially Granting And Partially Denying Motion To Dismiss By Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC (hereinafter referred to as "Amended Order of Dismissal") and it was filed and notice given to McNeals on the same date.

Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal on August 4, 2016.

**STATEMENT OF FACTS AS ALLEGED IN MCNEALS' FIRST AMENDED
COMPLAINT ²**

On or about May 6, 2006, Appellants, Alan and Adrienne McNeal, executed a note to purchase and construct their primary residence. ("Subject Property") The construction was completed and the McNeals moved into their home. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint pages 3 and 4)

The McNeals defaulted in the payment of the loan because of the downturn in the economy which hurt the McNeals' home construction business. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 6)

On February 16, 2011, Ocwen filed a foreclosure lawsuit against the McNeals in the Court Of Common Pleas, 14th Judicial Circuit, in cause number

² The Statement of Facts is a limited recitation of the allegations made in the McNeals' First Amended Complaint and is modified only to take into account the portion of the order dismissing Nationstar which portion is not appealed.

2011-C P-07-00781 (hereinafter referred to as "Foreclosure Lawsuit") seeking a deficiency judgment in which Ocwen alleged it was the present lien holder. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 5)

On April 11, 2011, Ocwen's attorney filed an affidavit of default against the McNeals. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 7)

Without a court order, Ocwen, in a letter dated January 4, 2012, stated it wanted an inspection of the Subject Property, but instead, Ocwen used the opportunity to change the locks and "winterize" the home. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 8)

Sometime in February 2012, Mr. McNeal spoke with a representative of Ocwen and asked her if he could list the Subject Property for sale with a real estate agent. He told Ocwen's representative that he would be willing to invest money and his time to improve and freshen up the Subject Property to make it presentable for sale. Ocwen's representative agreed with Mr. McNeal's plan to improve and freshen up the Subject Property to prepare it for sale and for the McNeals to list the Subject Property for sale with a real estate agent. Relying upon the representations of Ocwen's representative, the McNeals spent over \$3,500.00 and Mr. McNeal's time and energy preparing the Subject Property for sale. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 8)

On March 18, 2012, the McNeals entered into a listing agreement with Ballenger Realty to offer the Subject Property for sale. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 8)

Within 10 days or so from the McNeals signing the listing agreement, Ocwen changed the locks again, and the realtor was unable to show the Subject Property to a prospective buyer whom she had taken to the Subject Property. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 8)

In April 2012, the McNeals obtained a cash offer from George B. and Judith B. Utter to purchase the Subject Property for \$530,000.00 which the McNeals accepted. The sales and purchase agreement was dated April 12, 2012 ("Sale") and was set to close on May 14, 2012 (hereinafter referred to as the "Closing Date"). The net proceeds from the Sale would have produced enough net proceeds to have paid the McNeals' obligations pursuant to the Note and Mortgage in full. The McNeals hired Brandon Smith, an attorney licensed to practice law in South Carolina, to help them get the sale approved by Ocwen. It was necessary to get Ocwen's approval because the Foreclosure Lawsuit and the Lis Pendens filed by Ocwen were intended to prevent the sale of the Subject Property without Ocwen's approval. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 9, paragraph 40, & page 11, paragraph 47)

On or about April 25, 2012, Brandon W. Smith submitted a package of information necessary to obtain Ocwen's approval of the sale including proof the buyers had sufficient cash to pay the purchase price and closing costs. Ocwen never asked for more information. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 9)

On May 3, 2012, Ocwen filed a certificate of service in the Foreclosure Lawsuit for a "Notice of Denial of Loan Modification or Other Means of Loss Mitigation" claiming the document had been served on the McNeals, but no such

form appears in the Clerk of Courts of Beaufort County records of the Foreclosure Lawsuit, and the McNeals have not located such a document in their papers regarding the Foreclosure Lawsuit. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 9 and 10)

Ocwen informed the McNeals, through a telephone conversation with Brandon W. Smith, their attorney, their sale would not be approved unless the price was increased, but Ocwen's personnel refused to specify by how much the price must be increased to obtain Ocwen's approval. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 10)

Ocwen officially refused to permit the sale from occurring by letter dated June 5, 2012. This violated the provision in the Note allowing prepayment without penalty. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 10)

In a desperate attempt to save the sale, the McNeals obtained an appraisal of the Subject Property from a certified, reputable appraiser, who valued the Subject Property at \$470,000.00. This appraisal was sent to Ocwen by Brandon W. Smith, but Ocwen never made a response or commented on the appraisal despite attempts to communicate with Ocwen about the real value of the Subject Property and to save the \$530,000.00 cash Sale. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 10)

The buyers, who had agreed to purchase the Subject Property for \$530,000.00 in cash, were still ready, willing, and able to close the sale of the Subject Property, and they provided Ocwen proof they had the funds to pay cash for the purchase of the Subject Property. They significantly extended the time in

which to close the sale until August 2012, finally giving up only after a substantial period of time passed after Ocwen refused to allow the sale to proceed. Then and only then did they ask for their earnest money to be returned and cancelled the contract. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint pages 10 and 11)

The sales price of \$530,000.00 would have resulted in net proceeds sufficient to have paid in full the obligations owed pursuant to the Note and Mortgage. Furthermore, if the charges for force-placed insurance had been reasonable, bona fide, and/or fair, the net proceeds available to the McNeals would have been even greater. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 11)

Ocwen failed to notify the court that Ocwen had prevented the McNeals from selling the Subject Property as a means of loss mitigation as it was required to do pursuant to the South Carolina Supreme Court's Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01 issued on May 2, 2011 ("Administrative Order")³. This failure was a misrepresentation to the court to allow Ocwen and Nationstar to continue to pursue the Foreclosure Lawsuit without having to address with the court the consequences of Ocwen's refusal to allow the Sale to be consummated. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 14)

From the time Ocwen blocked the Sale for \$530,000.00 to pay off the note and mortgage in full, until Ocwen ceased being the servicer of the loan, Ocwen continued to charge the McNeals interest, force-placed insurance premiums, and other fees and expenses. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint pages 16, 21, 28, 34, and 37)

³ In re Mortg. Foreclosure Actions, 396 S.C. 209, 720 S.E.2d 908 (2011)

Until Ocwen surrendered servicing of the loan to Nationstar, Ocwen wrongfully reported to various credit reporting agencies the foreclosure and the delinquent payments which became due after the time when the cash sale for \$530,000.00 would have closed. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 19)

It is believed that Nationstar began servicing the Note and Mortgage sometime in May or June 2013 as a result of the sale and assignment of the servicing contract by Ocwen, and the purchase and acceptance of the assignment by Nationstar on or about May 31, 2013. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint pages 11 and 12)

Some eight (8) months later, Nationstar substituted itself as Plaintiff in place of Ocwen in the Foreclosure Lawsuit on January 28, 2014. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 12)

On March 27, 2014, almost two (2) years after Ocwen wrongfully prevented the consummation of the Sale of the Subject Property for \$530,000.00, Nationstar asked for and received a default judgment. It was not until May 5, 2014, that Nationstar held the foreclosure sale, selling the Subject Property to itself at a price of \$367,736.80. Shortly thereafter, Nationstar⁴ sold the Subject Property to Freddie Mac which then allegedly became the owner of the Subject Property. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint pages 14 and 15)

Thereafter, Ocwen, Nationstar, or some other servicer for Freddie Mac placed the Subject Property for sale with a realtor, and on or about March 23, 2015, sold the Subject Property for \$464,500.00 in a real estate market much

⁴ McNeals' First Amended Complaint incorrectly referred to the party as Ocwen. (page 14, paragraph 58)

improved from the year of 2012 when the McNeals had the house sold for \$530,000.00 in cash. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 20)

When Ocwen refused to allow the Sale to be consummated, it breached the terms of the Note and Mortgage because the proceeds would have been sufficient to pay the McNeals' obligations pursuant to the Note and Mortgage in full. That is, as of the Closing Date, or no later than June 5, 2012, no further interest would accrue on the Note or Mortgage obligations, the McNeals had no obligation to provide property insurance on or upkeep to the Subject Property, and the McNeals had no other continuing obligations pursuant to the Note or Mortgage. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint pages 20 and 21)

The McNeals suffered actual damages as described herein. These damages have been caused by and, where applicable, proximately caused by, Ocwen by the conduct described herein. Further, if necessary, the McNeals allege Ocwen has caused, and where appropriate proximately caused, damages to the McNeals by its refusal to allow them to consummate the Sale, its continuing to charge interest, fees, costs, insurance premiums and taxes after the Closing Date for the \$530,000/00 Sale, but no later than June 5, 2012. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 21)

These damages include, but are not limited to, loss of the net proceeds from the Sale and consequential damages, and other actual and consequential damages, including pain and suffering, lost income, shame, ridicule, humiliation, emotional distress, attorney's fees and costs, and other damages in an amount

to be determined by the jury at the trial of the case. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint page 21)

ARGUMENTS⁵

The trial court erroneously dismissed with prejudice causes of action pled by the McNeals against Ocwen because the McNeals pled facts sufficient to constitute causes of action pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC and complied with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rules 8 and 9, SCRPC because the McNeals stated facts entitling them to relief, put Ocwen on notice of what it would face at trial, stated a prayer or demand for judgment for relief, and complied with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rules 8 and 9, SCRPC. The trial court's order of dismissal of the causes of action described in this appeal should be reversed and rendered.

The First Amended Complaint states all of the elements of such causes of action and all facts to entitle the McNeals to the relief they requested and stated valid claims for relief. Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 628 S.E.2d 869 (2006)

In addressing the requirements of South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 8(f), SCRPC, the South Carolina Supreme Court stated "Pleadings are to be liberally construed to do substantial justice to all parties. It is elementary that the principal purpose of pleadings is to inform the pleader's adversary of legal and factual positions which he will be required to meet on

⁵ The McNeals are not appealing the portion of the Order of Dismissal of Nationstar or the causes of action for negligence, wrongful foreclosure, slander of title, or declaratory judgment made against Ocwen.

trial." Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 573-574, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013)

The McNeals have alleged sufficient facts, including inferences which may be drawn from the facts pled, which viewed in the light most favorable to the McNeals, would entitle them to the relief they requested.⁶

In that vein, the McNeals submit that:

a. "Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, ... the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the Complaint."

b. "If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the Complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper."

c. "In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the Complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief."

d. "A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) should not be granted if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom entitle the plaintiff to relief under any theory."

⁶ McNeals' First Amended Complaint also satisfies the requirements of South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 8 and 9, SCRCP as further discussed below. Where known, the time and place is always stated with specificity, and where the time is unknown, it is estimated.

e. "Furthermore, the Complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action."

Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116-17, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006).

I. **The Trial Court erred in dismissing the cause of action named Fraud for failure of the Appellants' First Amended Complaint to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC and for failure to comply with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rules 8 and 9, SCRPC because the McNeals stated facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for fraud and stated facts entitling them to relief, put Ocwen on notice of what it would face at trial, stated a prayer or demand for judgment for relief, and complied with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: Rules 8 and 9, SCRPC.**

By Ocwen's personnel stating to the McNeals' attorney that the Sale for \$530,000.00 in cash would be blocked by Ocwen but that the McNeals could seek approval at a higher price, Ocwen identified and limited its objections to the Sale to one issue: the Sale price was not for enough money to satisfy Ocwen even though the Sale would have produced enough net proceeds to have paid the McNeals' obligations in full. Ocwen made no other objection to the Sale. (McNeals' First Amended Complaint pages 9 & 10, paragraphs 41 thru 47)

At that moment, Ocwen made misrepresentations and committed unfair and deceptive acts. The first and most fundamental misrepresentations made by

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