THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-001616

Alan F. McNeal and Adrienne McNeal, Appellants,

v.

Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC and Nationstar
Mortgage, LLC, of whom Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC is the Respondent.

RECEIVED

MAR 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL W. SMITH
S.C. Bar No. 71184
Baker, Donelson, Bearman,
Caldwell and Berkowitz, PC
P.O. Box 1549
Orlando, FL 32802
(407) 367-5437

Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about May 16, 2006, Appellants Alan F. McNeal and Adrienne McNeal ("Appellants") executed a Promissory Note ("Note") in favor of Low Country National Bank in the original principal amount of \$417,000.00. (Am. Compl. ¶ 12). On that same date, Appellants executed a Mortgage ("Mortgage") to secure the repayment of the Note and pledged the property located at 25 Timber Trail, Beaufort, South Carolina ("Property") as collateral for the Note. (The Note and Mortgage will collectively be referred to as the "Loan"). In or around 2010, Appellants began to experience financial difficulties, which caused them to fall behind on the repayment obligations under the Loan. (Am. Compl. ¶ 26). On or about September 7, 2011, Appellants began the process of attempting to modify the Loan to try to avoid foreclosure of the Property. (Am. Compl. ¶ 28). During the modification process, servicing of the loan transferred to Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC ("Respondent"). Respondent ultimately denied Appellant's request for a loan modification and commenced a foreclosure action ("Foreclosure Action") on or about February 16, 2011.

In June 2011, Appellants moved out of the Property in anticipation of the impending foreclosure sale. (Am. Compl. ¶ 35). In early 2012, when Appellants became aware that the property had not yet been sold, Appellants placed the Property on the market in an attempt to avoid foreclosure. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 37, 38). In April 2012, Appellants received a cash offer from a purchaser for \$530,000.00 ("Offer"), and the Offer was submitted to Respondent for approval. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 40, 41). Respondent ultimately refused to approve the Offer and the Offer was withdrawn by the potential purchaser in August 2012. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 43, 44, 46).

Nationstar Mortgage ("Nationstar") began servicing the Loan and substituted in as the Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action. (Am. Compl. ¶ 51). A foreclosure judgment ("Foreclosure

Judgment") was entered on Marcy 27, 2014 and the Property was sold at auction on May 5, 2014. (Am. Compl. ¶ 58). Nationstar waived its right to a deficiency judgment against Appellants and issued a Form 1099 for the forgiveness of the remaining debt. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 59, 60).

I. The Trial Court correctly dismissed the cause of action for Fraud because Appellants failed to state sufficient facts to constitute a cause of action for Fraud. Additionally, Appellants claims are barred by *res judicata*.

Appellants first cause of action is for fraud. Rule 9(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require that allegations of fraud be pled with particularity. To establish fraud, the following elements must be shown: (1) a representation; (2) the falsity of the representation; (3) the materiality of the representation; (4) knowledge of its falsity, or reckless disregard for its truth or falsity; (5) intent that the representation be acted upon; (6) the hearer's ignorance of the falsity; (7) the hearer's reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury. *Ardis v. Cox*, 314 S.C. 512, 515, 431 S.E.2d 267, 269 (Ct. App. 1993). "Where the complaint omits allegations on any element of fraud, the trial court should grant the defendant's motion to dismiss the claim." *Id.* Appellants' allegations of fraud are set forth in Paragraphs 78-102 of the Amended Complaint. However, as will be shown through a paragraph-by-paragraph analysis below, Appellants fail to allege facts sufficient to support a cause of action for fraud.

Paragraph 78 of the Amended Complaint consists entirely of conclusory allegations made by Appellants' counsel. It does not contain any ultimate facts and is only a laundry list of Respondent's alleged bad deeds.

Paragraph 79 alleges that Respondent "misrepresented (itself) as the lienholder in the Foreclosure Action." However, under *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 746 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 2013), "a loan servicer is a 'party in interest' and has standing by virtue of its pecuniary interest in collecting payments under the terms of the note and mortgage." There is no dispute that Respondent is the servicer of the loan; therefore, Respondent has standing to foreclose and the allegation in the Foreclosure Action was not false.

In their initial brief, Appellant attempts to distinguish between "lienholder" and "real party in interest." However, even if there is a difference between the terms, there is no allegation that the alleged misnomer damaged Appellants in any way; none of Appellants claims for damages stem from the alleged misnomer. *See generally* Am. Compl.

Paragraph 80 alleges that a representative of Appellee told Appellants that Appellants had permission to place the Property for sale. This representation cannot constitute fraud because Appellants had no right to rely on this statement. South Carolina is a lien theory state. *See generally* Title 29, S.C. Code Ann. This means that not only did Appellants have title to the Property at all relevant times, they also had the ability to sell the Property at any time. Appellants cite no case law nor other authority to support their proposition that Respondent's (or anyone's) permission was required to sell the Property to satisfy the total amounts due under the Note and Mortgage. If Appellants' intention was to satisfy the Loan by using the proceeds received from a future sale of the Property, they could have proceeded without input from any other party.

To the extent Appellants are arguing that Respondent had a duty to allow them time to sell the property in order to satisfy the amounts owed, this argument is completely without

support under South Carolina law. There is no requirement to forestall a foreclosure to allow a borrower time to sell the Property.

Paragraph 81 alleges that Respondent "misrepresented and denied (Appellants') right to pay off the outstanding amounts owed pursuant to the Note and Mortgage." This statement is a conclusory allegation that has no supporting facts, in violation of Rules 8(a) and 9(b), SCRPC.

Paragraph 82 alleges that Appellee misrepresented its compliance with the Supreme Court Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01 ("Administrative Order"). However, the Administrative Order does not provide for a private right of action for enforcement. *See* Sec. V(a) below. Therefore, this allegation cannot support the basis of a fraud claim.

Paragraph 83 is irrelevant to this appeal because it concerns a representation allegedly made by Nationstar, which, pursuant to a previous order by this Court, is no longer a party to this appeal.

Paragraphs 84 through 93 involve representations allegedly made by Respondent in the Foreclosure Action. Appellant is generally complaining about representations made by Respondent in the Foreclosure Action regarding the amount of the debt, entitlement to a deficiency, the amount of the monthly payments, etc. However, any claims based upon issues from the Foreclosure Action are now barred by the principals of *res judicata*. "Under this doctrine, a final judgment on the merits in a prior action will conclude the parties and their privies in a second action based on the same claim as to the issues actually litigated and as to issues that might have been litigated in the first action. *Nelson v. QHG of S.C., Inc.*, 354 S.C. 290, 305 (Ct. App. 2003).

"To establish *res judicata*, the defendant must prove three elements: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the former suit." *Id.*

All of these elements have been met. First, the two parties in the current action are the same as those in the Foreclosure Action. Second, the subject matter, i.e. the foreclosure of the Appellants' Property, is the same. Third, each of the issues that Appellants raise now were necessary to the determination of whether Respondent was entitled to a final judgment of foreclosure in the Foreclosure Action.

Each of these claims were issues that either were litigated or should have been litigated in the Foreclosure Action. These issues were central to the Foreclosure Action and the Appellants' failure to raise them at that time are fatal to their fraud claims now.

The remaining fraud allegations in Paragraphs 94-100 do nothing more than recite the elements of fraud in violation of Rules 8(a) and 9(b), SCRCF. Moreover, all of the allegations in these paragraphs relate to statements made and acts performed during the pendency of the Foreclosure Action. These alleged acts were all resolved in the Foreclosure Action and are barred by *res judicata*; they cannot support an independent cause of action now. *See Nelson*.

II. The Trial Court correctly dismissed the cause of action for violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act because Appellant failed to state a cause of action under that statute.

The Appellants' second cause of action is for alleged violations of the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act ("FDCPA"), 15 §§ 1692(e) and (f). However, the Appellants' allegations wholly consist of a parroted recitation of the language in §1692. (Am. Compl. 26-27). The Amended Complaint does not specify what misleading statements were used, what amounts were unauthorized, or by what unfair means Respondent used to collect the debt. *See* (Am. Compl. ¶106). Appellants' attempts in their brief to now explain what was intended to be alleged in the Amended Complaint cannot save an otherwise insufficiently pled cause of action.

See Berry v. McLeod, 328 S.C. 435, 441, 492 S.E.2d 794, 797 (Ct. App. 1997) ("Generally, in considering a 12(b)(6) motion, the trial court must base its ruling solely upon allegations set forth on the face of the complaint.").

Moreover, Appellants were required to raise these allegations in the Foreclosure Action. Appellants' basis for this cause of action rests entirely on activities performed during the Foreclosure Action. As argued above, the principles of *res judicata* prevent Appellant from re-litigating these issues in a separate action.

III. The Trial Court correctly dismissed the cause of action for Breach of Contract with Fraudulent Intent because Appellant failed to state sufficient facts to constitute a cause of action.

In South Carolina, a plaintiff can make a claim for punitive damages for breach of contract if he can show that the breach was accompanied by a fraudulent act. *Smith v. Canal Insurance Co.*, 275 S.C. 256, 260, 269 S.E.2d 348, 350 (1980). "This fraudulent act, although separate and distinct from the act(s) constituting the breach, must accompany the breach and not be too remote in either time or character." *Id.* However, none of the enumerated acts listed in paragraph 137 of the Complaint can constitute fraud, even if taken to be true:

In paragraph 137(c),¹ Appellants allege that Respondent misrepresented its compliance with the Administrative Order" because Respondent failed to "notify the court it had prevented the [Appellants] from selling the subject property." However, nothing in the Administrative Order requires Respondent to take this type of action. The Administrative order only requires a foreclosing lender to notify the court of the completion of the foreclosure intervention process. *In re Mortg. Foreclosure Actions*, 396 S.C. 209, 720 S.E.2d 908 (2011). There is no allegation

¹ Sub-Paragraphs a, b and e refer to acts allegedly taken by Nationstar, which has been dismissed from this action.

that Respondent failed to notify the trial court of the completion of the foreclosure intervention process, as required by the Administrative Order.

In Paragraph 137(d), alleges that Respondent misrepresented its entitlement to a foreclosure of the property. However, proceeding with foreclosure after an admitted default cannot constitute fraud. Also, as argued above, Appellants were required to raise any defenses to the foreclosure in the Foreclosure Action itself.

Similarly, in Paragraph 137(f), Appellants allege that the amounts charged in the Foreclosure Action were improperly assessed. However, again, the total amounts owed under the Note and Mortgage were adjudicated in the Foreclosure Action; re-litigating these issues is also barred by *res judicata*.

IV. The Trial Court correctly dismissed the cause of action for Unfair Trade Practices because Appellants failed to allege that Respondent engaged in unfair or deceptive acts; in the alternative, the alleged acts by Respondent do not have an impact on the public interest.

To recover in an action under the UTPA, the plaintiff must show: (1) the defendant engaged in an unfair or deceptive act in the conduct of trade or commerce; (2) the unfair or deceptive act affected public interest; and (3) the plaintiff suffered monetary or property loss as a result of the defendant's unfair or deceptive act(s). *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 23 640 S.E.2d 486, 498 (Ct. App. 2006). Appellant failed to allege that appellee engaged in unfair or deceptive acts. Also, Appellant failed to allege that the acts affected the public interest.

a. There are no allegations of unfair or deceptive acts

Appellants set forth a laundry list of bad acts allegedly committed by Respondent. (App. Br. 31). However, an examination of the alleged "unfair and deceptive acts" shows that all of the

acts were those taken by Respondent in the prosecution of the Foreclosure Action. Among other things, Appellants allege that Respondent misrepresented the balance owed on the Loan, misrepresented itself as the lienholder, and misrepresented compliance with the Administrative Order. (App. Br. 31). Each of these "bad acts" were actually defenses and/or counterclaims that should have been raised in the Foreclosure Action. The court adjudicated these issues when it issued a judgment in the Foreclosure Action and took it to sale. As argued above, the principals of *res judicata* prohibit Appellant from re-litigating issues that were previously adjudicated in the Foreclosure Action.

b. Respondent's acts do not affect the public interest.

Even if the "unfair acts" alleged by Appellant can be re-litigated (which Respondent denies), the dismissal of Appellants' cause of action for UTPA should be affirmed because Appellants fail to allege that acts allegedly committed by Respondent affect the public interest. Courts have held that conduct that only affects the parties to the transaction provides no basis for a UTPA claim. *Jefferies v. Phillips*, 316 S.C. 523, 527, 451 S.E.2d 21, 23 (Ct. App. 1994). This suit only involves conduct between Appellant and Respondent, so a UTPA claim would generally not be applicable.

Nonetheless, the requirement for "impact on the public interest may be shown if the acts or practices have the potential for repetition." *Singleton v. Stokes Motors, Inc.*, 358 S.C. 369, 379, 595 S.E.2d 461, 466 (2004). "The potential for repetition may be demonstrated in either of two ways: (1) by showing the same kind of actions occurred in the past, thus making it likely they will continue to occur absent deterrence; or (2) by showing the company's procedures create a potential for repetition of the unfair and deceptive acts." *Hollman v. Woolfson*, 384 S.C. 571, 580, 683 S.E.2d 495, 499 (2009), *citing Singleton*, 358 S.C. at 379, 595 S.E.2d at 466.

Because the transaction at issue only involves Appellants and the Respondent, in order to fulfill the public interest requirement, Appellants must show this potential for repetition. *See Jefferies*. However, the Amended Complaint utterly fails to show this potential. Appellants complain about Respondent's alleged conduct in other states but otherwise just parrot the language from the statute that Respondent's actions "have a real and substantial potential for repetition and affect the public interest." (Am. Compl. 40). Even the allegations regarding Respondent's conduct in other states are only tangentially related to the issues at hand. Importantly, Appellants fail to allege that the issues involved in those consent orders relate to the very specific allegations made by Appellants in this litigation, which is that Respondent allegedly refused to approve the sale of Appellant's home for \$530,000. (Am. Comp. ¶¶ 40-45). The allegations contained in those paragraphs are very specific to the business dealings between Respondent and Appellant and in no way affect or could affect any other party.

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